Due to space limitations and the detailed information
regarding references contained in the endnotes, a for-
mal bibliography has been omitited from this book.
However, following the endnotes for Chapter 21, you
will find a list of additional sources of information not
contained in the extensive endnote section.

The following abbreviations are used for Canadian
provinces: Alta. (Alberta); B.C. (British Columbia); Man.
(Manitoba); N.B. (New Brunswick); Nfld.
(Newfoundland); N.W.T. (North-West Territories [before
1905]/Northwest Territories [after 1905]); N.S. (Nova
Scotia); Ont. (Ontario); PE.l. (Prince Edward Island);
Sask. (Saskatchewan). Québec and Yukon Territory are
not abbreviated.

The following publications appear with frequency in the
endnotes and additional sources listing. An asterisk (*)
following an endnote entry indicates that the reference
is part of the private collection of Deal Heritage in
Canada author.

American Annals of the Deaf and Dumb (AADD) / American
Annals of the Deaf (AAD) (Convention of American Instructors
of the Deaf and Conference of Educational Administrators
Serving the Deaf, USA)

Blue and Gold Newsletter (see The WCCD Booster)
Bo-Be Newsletter (Bo-Be Productions Inc., Montréal, Québec)

Bulletin du CLSM / Le Penser du Sourd / Le Sourd Québécois
(Centre des Loisirs des Sourds de Montréal, Montréal,
Québec)

CAD Chat (News sheet from the Canadian Association of the
Deaf, Ottawa, Ont.)

Canadian Journal of the Deaf (Canadian Association of the
Deaf, Ottawa, Ont.)

Captioning News (the newsletter of the Canadian Captioning
Development Agency, Inc., Don Mills, Ont.)

CHS News / Vibrations / Vibes (Canadian Hearing Society,
Toronto, Ont.)

Communication (Canadian
Deafness, Ottawa, Ont.)

Co-ordinating Council on

Cultural Horizons of the Deaf in Canada (Canadian Cultural
Society of the Deaf, Winnipeg, Man.)

Deaf Canada (Canadian Association of the Deaf, Canadian
Deaf Sports Association, and Canadian Cultural Society of the
Deaf)

Deaf Life (MSM Productions Limited, Rochester, N.Y., USA)

Deaf-Mutes’ Journal (New York Institution for the Instruction of
the Deaf and Dumb, New York, N.Y., USA)

GA-SK Newsletter (Telecommunications for the Deaf, Inc.,
Silver Spring, Md., USA)

Gallaudet Alumni Bulletin / Gallaudet Alumni Newsletter
(Gallaudet College Alumni Association (GCAA)/Gallaudet
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University Alumni Association (GUAA), Washington, D.C.,
USA)

Gallaudet Today (Gallaudet College/Gallaudet University,
Washington, D.C., USA)

IPAD Bulletin (Inter-Provincial Association of the Deaf,
Toronto, Ont.)

L'Ami des Sourds-Muets / L'Ami des Sourds (Institution
Catholique des Sourds-Muets/Institution Catholique des
Sourds, Montréal, Québec)

L’Echo du Sourd (La Seule Revue Distribuee Gratuitement a
tous les Sourds de la Province de Québec)

Mackay Bulletin / Mackay Center Newsletter (Mackay
Institution for Protestant Deaf-Mutes/Mackay Center for Deaf
Children, Montréal, Québec)

OCCC News (The Ontario Closed Caption Consumers, Inc.,
Toronto, Ont.)

OCSD Bulletin (Ontario Cultural Society of the Deaf)

On the Green (Gallaudet College/Gallaudet University,
Washington, D.C., USA)

Ontario Deaf Life (Ontario Association of the Deaf, Ontario Deaf
Sports Association, and Ontario Cultural Society of the Deaf)

OSAC Star (Ottawa Silent Athletic Club, Ottawa, Ont.)

Research at Gallaudet (Gallaudet Research
Gallaudet University, Washington, D.C., USA)

Institute,

SCCD Newsletter (Saskatchewan Coordinating Council on
Deafness)

Silent News (Rochester, N.Y., USA)

The Canadian Teacher of the Deaf / The ACEHI Journal /
Educator/Educateur (Association of Canadian Educators of
the Hearing Impaired)

The Alberta Signal (Alberta Association of the Deaf,
Edmonton, Alta.)

The Buff and Blue (Gallaudet College/Gallaudet University,
Washington, D.C., USA)

The Canadian Mute / The Canadian (Ontario Institution for the
Education and Instruction of the Deaf and Dumb/Ontario
School for the Deaf, Belleville Ont.)

The Canadian Silent Observer (Toronto, Ont.)
The Competitor (Canadian Deaf Sports Association)

The Deaf Canadian (Toronto, Ont.; The Deaf Canadian Limited,
Calgary, Alta.; The Deaf Canadian Readers’ Association,
Calgary, Alta.)

The Deaf Canadian Advocate (Canadian Association of the
Deaf, Ottawa, Ont.)

The Deaf Herald (Eastern Canada Association of the Deaf,
Halifax, N.S.)

The Frat (National Fraternal Society of the Deaf, Mt. Prospect,
., USA)

483



ENDNOTES

The Gospel Light (Toronto Mission to the Deaf, Toronto, Ont.)

The ICDA News / The Deaf Catholic (International Catholic
Deaf Association)

The Institution News / The School News (Institution for the
Deaf and Dumb/School for the Deaf, Halifax, N.S.)

The Maritimer (Atlantic Provinces Resource Centre for the
Hearing Handicapped, Amherst, N.S.)

The NAD Broadcaster (National Association of the Deaf, Silver
Spring, Md., USA)

The New Scotian (Interprovincial School for the Education of
the Deaf, Amherst, N.S.)

The OAD News (Ontario Association of the Deaf, Toronto,
Ont.)

The Prairie Lily (Saskatchewan Deaf Association)

The Silent Echo / The Echo / The Manitoba Echo (Manitoba
Institution for the Education of the Deaf and Dumb/Manitoba
School for the Deaf, Winnipeg, Man.)

The Silent Nation (Toronto, Ont.)

The Silent Worker (New Jersey School for the Deaf, Trenton,
N.J., USA)

The Silent Worker / The Deaf American (National Association
of the Deaf, Silver Spring, Md., USA)

INTRODUCTION

(For explanation of abbreviations, refer to pages 483-484.)

1 Clifton F. Carbin, “Historical and Personal Perspectives on
Deafness,” The ACEHI Journal 9 (no. 2) (Summer 1983):
130.

2 The Bailey family (Belleville, Ont.). Letter to author, July 27,
1987.

3 William E. Peters (1857-1952), Ohio attorney, author, and
civil engineer.

CHAPTER 1: The Early Days - Attitudes Toward
Deaf People and Their Education

(For explanation of abbreviations, refer to pages 483-484.)

1 Hattie Conwell Spear, “Facts in Relation to Deaf-Mutes and
Their Education,” The Silent Worker 14 (no. 8) (Apr. 1902):
124,

2 The legal status of deaf-mutes (those people who are deaf
and do not speak at all) are mentioned 54 times in the
Mishnah and 333 times in the Talmud, according to
Abraham Zwiebel, “Judaism and Deafness: A Humanistic
Heritage.” In Carol J. Erting, Robert C. Johnson, Dorothy L.
Smith, and Bruce D. Snider (eds.), The Deaf Way:
Perspectives from the International Conference on Deaf
Culture, p. 236. Washington, D.C.: Gallaudet University
Press, 1994.

3 Quoted in E.A. Fay, “What did St. Augustine Say?,” AAD 57
(no. 1) (Jan. 1912): 119.

Ibid., p. 110.

Some historians spell his name “Beverley,” others “Beverly.”
The common belief (perpetuated from the pre-Christian era)
held that a deaf person was always dumb (“tongue-tied”).
Distinctions between hearing people who could not speak
(those suffering from aphasia, for example) and deaf people
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The Silent World (Toronto, Ont.)

The Totem Pole (British Columbia School for the Deaf and the
Blind/Jericho Hill Provincial School for the Deaf, Vancouver,
B.C.)

The VAD News / The GVAD News (Vancouver Association of
the Deaf/Greater Vancouver Association of the Deaf,
Vancouver, B.C.)

The Volta Review (Alexander Graham Bell Association,
Washington, D.C., USA)

The WCAD News / The Deaf Reporter (Western Canada
Association of the Deaf)

The WCCD Booster / The Blue and Gold Newsletter / WCCD
News (Winnipeg Community Centre of the Deaf, Winnipeg,
Man.)

The WFD News (World Federation of the Deaf)

Voir Dire (Association des Sourds du Montréal Métropolitain,
Inc., Montréal, Québec)

WID News (Western Institute for the Deaf, Vancouver, B.C.)

World Around You (Pre-College Programs, Gallaudet
University, Washington, D.C., USA)

(who were assumed to always be unable to speak) were not
always clear.

6 Quoted in Fred De Land, “Pedro Ponce de Leon (Born
1520); Juan Pablo Bonet (Author, 1620),” The Volta Review
22 (no. 7) (July 1920): 408.

7 Quoted in Edward L. Scouten, Turning Points in the
Education of Deaf People, p. 21. Danville, lll.: The Interstate
Printers & Publishers, Inc., 1984.

8 Ibid.
9 Ibid., p. 64.

10 Different sources provide different information regarding the
date the Abbé de I'Epée began his school. Some say the
school was founded in 1760 and others say 1771.
According to a faxed letter to author dated Sept. 30, 1994
from Joélle Alpérine, librarian at the Institut National de
Jeunes Sourds in Paris, France (the current name of the
school), the official founding date is 1760. Two deaf sisters
living in Paris at that time were receiving religious training
from Father Simon Vanin, affiliated with the Convent of
Saint-Julien des Ménétriers in Paris. When he died (on Sept.
19, 1759), the sisters had no one to instruct them. De I'Epée
met the two deaf girls later the following year. They are con-
sidered to be his first two pupils. He held the first public
demonstration of his teaching methods in 1771. *

11 The fact that there were three John Braidwoods and two
Thomas Braidwoods during this period of the family’s histo-
ry has led to a certain amount of confusion among histori-
ans. Thomas Braidwood (b. 1715; d. Oct. 24, 1806), founder
of the Braidwood Academy in Scotland (which later moved
to London, England), was married to a woman named
Margaret (b. 1714; d. May 30, 1791). Their second daughter
was named Isabella (b. 1758; d. 1819). Thomas Braidwood
had a brother named John. John had a son also named
John (b. 1756; d. Sept. 24, 1798), who as a young man lived
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with his uncle Thomas, aunt Margaret, and cousin Isabella
while he worked as an assistant teacher at the Braidwood
Academy. Young John and Isabella had an affair, and she
became pregnant. The couple married four months before
the birth of their first child, whom they named Thomas (b.
May 14, 1782; d. 1825). John and lIsabella also had a
daughter named Elizabeth, and a son named John (b. 1784;
d. Oct. 24, 1820), who went to America and taught in
Virginia. Like her father, Isabella was involved in the educa-
tion of deaf children, as were her husband and children.
Isabella ran the school founded by her father until 1813. Her
son Thomas became headmaster of a school for deaf chil-
dren in Birmingham, England in 1814. In 1816, Isabella and
daughter Elizabeth moved to Birmingham and established a
boarding school for born-deaf children. After her death in
1819, her children Thomas and Elizabeth continued to oper-
ate the school until Thomas died in 1825. Elizabeth then
returned to London and got married.

John V. Van Cleve and Barry Crouch, A Place of Their Own,
p. 108. Washington, D.C.: Gallaudet University Press, 1989.

“Institution ltems (Horace Mann School),” AADD 23 (no. 1)
(Jan. 1878): 55.

Report of the Proceedings of the International Congress on
the Education of the Deaf, held at Milan, September 6th-
17th, 1880. London: W.H. Allen and Co., 1880.

Twenty-three of the delegates came from France. Sweden,
Austria, Switzerland, and Belgium each sent one person.
Almost all were staunch advocates of the oral method. See
E.M. Gallaudet, “The Milan Convention,” AADD 26 (no. 1)
(Jan. 1881): 1.

According to the Italian minutes, the official list of countries
represented at the Congress of Milan and the numbers of
individuals from each country are as follows: Italy (158),
France (67), England (12), Germany (8), United States (6),
Belgium (1), Canada (1), Norway (1), Russia (1), and Sweden
(1). Of these, 166 people were active members (“eff.” in
ltalian), 86 were honourary members without voting rights
(“on.” in ltalian), and four did not have any designation
beside their name. An asterisk was beside the names of 182
people, indicating that they had signed up to give presenta-
tions. See “Membres du Congrés international des
Instituteurs des sourds-muets tenu a Milan du 6 au 11
septembre 1880 (1).” In Atti del Congresso Internazionale
tenuto in Milano dal 6 all’l1 di settembre 1880 Pel
Miglioramento Della Sorte dei Sordomuti, pp. 32-44. Roma:
Tipografia Eredi Botta, 1881.

It was long thought that Denison was the only deaf delegate
at this congress. However, the official list of delegates (writ-
ten in ltalian) disclosed the name of another man, a Mr.
“Forestier (eff.), direttore della scuola dei sordomuti
di...Lione [France]” (Atti del Congresso Internazionale..., p.
36). This man was Claudius Forestier, who was born pro-
foundly deaf, had several deaf relatives, and attended the
Institution Nationale des Sourds-Muets in Paris. He was list-
ed as a voting member (“eff.”) on the Congress of Milan ros-
ter of participants. Forestier was clearly an advocate for the
use of sign language in schools for deaf children, and
employed other deaf teachers at the Lyon school, where he
was principal. In an 1880 rebuttal to M. Claveau (the inspec-
tor general in the office of France’s Ministry of Interior who
had advocated pure oralism, “even if it be at the expense of
general education, at least the pupils will have a means of
communicating with the rest of society”), Forestier wrote:
“Sign language is rich in its expressions, extremely simple in
its forms; it meets all mental needs; there is no way more
direct, certain, and effective to initiate the deaf-mute in the
secrets of our [French] language” (first quote is from Harlan
Lane, When the Mind Hears: A History of the Deaf, p. 386;
second quote is from Claudius Forestier, Lettre a M. le

Ministre de Llntérieur au sujet du Rapport du M. Claveau,
Inspecteur Général des Etablissements de Bienfaisance, sur
I'enseignement de la parole dans les institutions des sourds-
mutes, Lyon: Pitrat, 1880, cited in Lane, p. 386). Later, at
one of the international meetings of deaf people that were
held after the Congress of Milan, Forestier is quoted as say-
ing: “I was sharply pained to learn that people with no expe-
rience have the audacity to propose the interdiction of sign
language. This would be to tear it from our very soul since it
is a part of our nature, the life of our thoughts. Sign remains
the one true means of leading our younger brethren to a
knowledge of the national language” (quoted in Lane, p.
405). The presence of a few proponents of manual commu-
nication at the Milan Congress, including those from the
United States, Britain, and Forestier from France, was not
enough to stem the tide of oralism that swept across the
world for the next 100 years.

18  Quoted in E.M. Gallaudet, “The Milan Convention,” AADD
26 (no. 1) (Jan. 1881): 5-6.
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was ordained as a minister by the Church of England in the
early 1930s. For a time, the family (son Roy included) lived
in an apartment above the Lincoln Diocesan Mission for the
Deaf, where the senior Wollaston worked as a Diocesan
missioner to the Deaf community.
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An addendum (Ontario Regulation 81-75) to the 1974
Ontario Education Act was filed on January 5, 1975, offi-
cially changing “the name of the school to The Ernest C.
Drury School, Milton, A Regional Centre for the Hearing
Handicapped.” See R.A. Wollaston, “Superintendent’s
Message,” Ernest C. Drury .School Beaver [yearbook]
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cially in 1974.
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“More About Our Birthday Party,” Hawk (The Robarts
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Law 94-142 in the United States.

CHAPTER 5: Schools in the Atlantic Provinces
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the week.” See Bryan R. Clarke and David C. Kendall,
“Communication for Hearing-handicapped People in
Canada.” In Herbert J. Oyer (ed.), Communication for the
Hearing Handlicapped: An International Perspective, Ch. 4,
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Statutes of Nova Scotia, Ch. 153, p. 387. Halifax, N.S.:
Commissioner of Public Works and Mines, King’s Printer,
1913.

See “Deaf Pupils Survived the Great Halifax Explosion” in
Chapter 17, for details of the children’s experiences.

“School Items (Halifax School),” AAD 63 (no. 2) (Mar. 1918): 224.

The state of Massachusetts immediately mobilized a relief
effort upon hearing of the disaster in Halifax. Doctors, nurs-
es, medical supplies, and warm clothing arrived by train on
December 8th, after being delayed by a broken engine, a
blizzard, and snowdrifts that blocked the tracks. The
Massachusetts relief team was the first to reach the city.
Later, the state sent building supplies to help Halifax resi-
dents rebuild their homes, businesses, and schools. For a
more detailed description of the Massachusetts relief work
immediately following the explosion, see Graham Metson
(ed.), The Halifax Explosion: December 6, 1917, pp. 136-
161. Toronto. Ont.: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Limited, 1978. See
also letter dated Sept. 30, 1919 from G.M. Murray (provin-
cial treasurer, Government of Nova Scotia) to Andrew
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MacKinlay (treasurer, School for the Deaf, Halifax); and let-
ter dated Mar. 9, 1920 from Arthur Barnstead (provincial
secretary, Government of Nova Scotia) to A. MacKinlay —
both located in the Public Archives of Nova Scotia, Halifax.

K.C. Van Allen, A Short History..., p. 17.
Ibid., p. 18.
Rilla Ellis, “A History of the Education...,” p. 244.

Velma Mary Graves, The Interprovincial School for the
Education of the Deaf, 1961-1971, p. 6. An essay presented
to the Education Department of the Faculty of Arts, St.
Francis Xavier University, Antigonish, N.S., Aug. 1971.

See “A Protest Against Moving the School for the Deaf to
Amherst,” A Brief to the Provincial Government of Nova
Scotia, June 1959 (#PANS 232, Public Archives of Nova
Scotia, Halifax), for a list of the groups submitting their
protests to the government. In addition, one parent (Wendell
H. McGathey of Fredericton, N.B.) placed a “Public Notice:
Protest the Moving of the Halifax School for the Deaf!” on p.
17 of The Chronicle-Herald (Halifax, N.S.) (Apr. 11, 1959),
urging taxpayers to protest the school’'s move.

Drysdale, his two brothers Stephen Mitchell (b. Feb. 20,
1887; d. Apr. 14, 1946) and Arthur Gordon (b. Sept. 3, 1900;
d. Feb. 4, 1943), and his wife (the former Lillian May
Canning [b. Dec. 21, 1906; d. Nov. 14, 1983] of Shulie in
Cumberland County), all were residential students at the
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members include the wife of Arthur Gordon, Margaret Rose
(née Hull) (b. Dec. 20, 1914) (Halifax School, 1923-1933);
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who also attended their alma mater (1950-1961); and
Frederick Edward Drysdale, Jr. (b. Apr. 20, 1941), son of the
award-winner, another graduate of the Halifax School
(1947-1958).

A four-year search (1987-1991) for William Gray’s actual
date and place of birth was conducted by mail to various
libraries in Scotland. The Central Library in Edinburgh,
which has collected annual reports of the Edinburgh
Institution for the Education of the Deaf and Dumb since
1810, disclosed that Gray, a resident of Scoon, entered the
Institution as a pupil on Mar. 26, 1819 at the age of 13. His
baptismal entry from the Old Parish Registers, found by the
Archive and Record Centre in Dundee, Scotland, identified
a William Gray who was christened on Nov. 9, 1806.
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On the assumption that William Gray had moved from
Halifax to the United States in the early 1870s, the New
England Historic Genealogical Society in Boston, Mass.
was asked (in 1989) by Elizabeth Doull, research assistant to
author, for assistance in tracing his whereabouts in the
states. The 1880 census of Middlesex County confirmed
that William Gray and his wife, Isabella, were then living with
their daughter and son-in-law in Cambridge, Mass.
Although the name of Gray’s wife remained on the census
records, Gray’s name disappeared from the later censuses
(1881-1883). The Massachusetts Vital Records on Deaths
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Scotland, had died at Tewkesbury on June 30, 1881. Even
though reference to his age and employment status were
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Deaf and Dumb Children: Established, June 25, 1810; and
Incorporated by Seal of Cause from the Magistrates of
Edinburgh, p. 71 [re: William Gray]. Edinburgh, Scotland:
Printed for the Institution by J. Ritchie, 1824. Available from
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The Handicapped Persons Education Act also established
the Atlantic Provinces Resource Centre for the Visually
Handicapped in Halifax (later renamed the Sir Frederick
Fraser School for the Blind). The old 1960 law had been cre-
ated when Nova Scotia and New Brunswick agreed to joint-
ly fund an educational program for their deaf children. The
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Vancouver, B.C. (1954, 1958, 1967, 1972, 1977); Portland,
Oregon (1955, 1960, 1968, 1971, 1974, 1981, 1988);
Oakland, Calif. (1956, 1961, 1966, 1973, 1982); Seattle,
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1914): 11. James Gardner (b. Nov. 29, 1856; d. Unknown) of
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Ibid., Sept. 20, 1952, p. 3.
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butions to the welfare of the Canadian deaf.” See “Senator
Wilson Honoured” (p. 2), and “Gallaudet Honours Senator
Cairine Wilson With Degree” (p. 10) in The OAD News 13
(no. 10) (May-June 1960).

E. Marshall Wick, Report on A Proposal to Establish A
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ENDNOTES

in other chapters. Taylor (b. Mar. 28, 1949), who was born
with a moderate hearing loss, had become profoundly deaf
by the age of four and half years. She has an older, born-
deaf brother. Trained as a teacher of the deaf at the
University of British Columbia in Vancouver (1975-1976),
she currently works as a co-ordinator of educational pro-
grams for deaf and hard of hearing students for the Sooke
School District in the Greater Victoria area. In 1990, she
founded R.E.A.D. 2000 (Resources in Education for the
Adult Deaf), a program now funded by the B.C. Ministry of
Skills, Training, and Labour and administered by School
District No. 62 (Sooke) Continuing Education Department.
The R.E.A.D. program is believed to be the first of its kind in
Canada to offer itinerant post-secondary support services
to deaf students in colleges, universities, and apprentice-
ship programs. And in 1995, Taylor wrote and produced an
educational video series and book entitled “Deafness and
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